
 

 

 
 

 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Tuesday, 21 February 2023 

 

Notice of meeting  
 

Public Services Scrutiny Committee 
 

Wednesday, 1st March, 2023 at 10.00 am, 
County Hall, Usk, NP15 1GA - Remote Attendance 

 
Please note that a pre meeting will be held 30 minutes prior to the start of the 

meeting for members of the committee. 
 

AGENDA 
 

Item No Item Pages 
 

1.   Apologies for absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
 

3.   Public Open Forum 
 

Select Committee Public Open Forum ~ Guidance  
 

Our Select Committee meetings are live streamed and a link to the live 
stream will be available on the meeting page of the Monmouthshire 
County Council website 
 
If you would like to share your thoughts on any proposals being 
discussed by Select Committees, you can submit your representation 
via this form 
 

 Please share your views by uploading a video or audio file (maximum of 
4 minutes) or; 

 Please submit a written representation (via Microsoft Word, maximum 
of 500 words) 
 
You will need to register for a My Monmouthshire account in order to 
submit the representation or use your log in, if you have registered 
previously.  
 
The deadline for submitting representations to the Council is 5pm three 

 

Public Document Pack

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2FmgCalendarMonthView.aspx%3FGL%3D1%26bcr%3D1&data=04%7C01%7CRichardWilliams%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cdea1dfae480341d0457108d93bb35f02%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637606464744676017%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=2coXXLd7oTGoOlkC5mfbfQVSnmvKVa8zWwDLn5yNqfA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fiweb.itouchvision.com%2Fportal%2Ff%3Fp%3Dcustomer%3Acategory_link%3A%3A%3A%3A%3ACUID%2CLANG%3AAF982C24C2572B3224E054315401AAED8CC0A7A0%2CEN%26P_LANG%3Den&data=04%7C01%7CRichardWilliams%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cdea1dfae480341d0457108d93bb35f02%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637606464744685972%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=zVeAfmo8771iiapn7U8Uw8v8O67hn0Vnag7A4Isrc30%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fiweb.itouchvision.com%2Fportal%2Ff%3Fp%3Dcustomer%3Acategory_link%3A%3A%3A%3A%3ACUID%2CLANG%3AAF982C24C2572B3224E054315401AAED8CC0A7A0%2CEN%26P_LANG%3Den&data=04%7C01%7CRichardWilliams%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cdea1dfae480341d0457108d93bb35f02%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637606464744685972%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=zVeAfmo8771iiapn7U8Uw8v8O67hn0Vnag7A4Isrc30%3D&reserved=0


 

 

clear working days in advance of the meeting. 
 
If representations received exceed 30 minutes, a selection of these 
based on theme will be shared at the Select Committee meeting.  All 
representations received will be made available to councillors prior to 
the meeting. 
 
If you would like to suggest future topics for scrutiny by one of our 
Select Committees, please do so by emailing 
Scrutiny@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

4.   Draft Gwent Wellbeing Plan 
 

Consultation with the Scrutiny Committee on the draft Gwent Well-

being Plan following feedback from the committee at its last meeting. 

 

1 - 30 

5.   Stagecoach Bus Services 
 

Invitation to Stagecoach to attend to discuss service provision in 

Monmouthshire. 

 

 

6.   Hate Crime in Monmouthshire 
 
Discuss the data for Monmouthshire. 

 

 

7.   Public Services Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme and 
Action List 

 

31 - 32 

8.   Cabinet and Council Work Planner 

 
33 - 42 

9.   Minutes of the previous meeting held on 28th November 2022 

 
43 - 48 

10.   To note the date and time of the next meeting: 24th April 2023 

 
 

 
Paul Matthews 

 
Chief Executive 

 
 

 

mailto:Scrutiny@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 

 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
County Councillor Jill Bond West End; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Jan Butler Goetre Fawr; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Steven Garratt Overmonnow; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Penny Jones Raglan; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Malcolm Lane Mardy; Welsh Conservative Party 

County Councillor Dale Rooke 
Chepstow Castle & 
Larkfield; 

Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

County Councillor Frances Taylor Magor West; Independent Group 
County Councillor Armand Watts Bulwark and Thornwell; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

 

 
Public Information 

 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard 
copy of this agenda.  
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or 
English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your 
needs. 

 



 

 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 
 
Building Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Objectives we are working towards 
 

 Giving people the best possible start in life 

 A thriving and connected county 

 Maximise the Potential of the natural and built environment 

 Lifelong well-being 

 A future focused council 
 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions that 

affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we cannot do 

something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain why; if we can’t 

answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – building trust and 

engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something does not 

seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone fairly and 

consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening and explaining 

why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most effective and 

efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone to embrace new 

ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get involved 

so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or problem-solvers, 

but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to make sure we do the 

things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of relationships 

and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 



 

 

Monmouthshire Scrutiny Question Guide 
 

Role of the Pre-meeting 

1. Why is the Committee scrutinising this? (background, key issues) 

2. What is the Committee’s role and what outcome do Members want to achieve? 

3. Is there sufficient information to achieve this? If not, who could provide this? 

 

- Agree the order of questioning and which Members will lead 

- Agree questions for officers and questions for the Cabinet Member 

Questions for the Meeting 

Scrutinising Performance 

 

1. How does performance compare with 

previous years? Is it better/worse? Why? 

 

2. How does performance compare with other 

councils/other service providers? Is it 

better/worse? Why? 

 

3. How does performance compare with set 

targets? Is it better/worse? Why? 

 

4. How were performance targets set? Are 

they challenging enough/realistic? 

 

5. How do service users/the public/partners 

view the performance of the service? 

 

6. Have there been any recent audit and 

inspections? What were the findings? 

 

7. How does the service contribute to the 

achievement of corporate objectives? 

 

8. Is improvement/decline in performance 

linked to an increase/reduction in resource? 

What capacity is there to improve? 

Scrutinising Policy 

 

1. Who does the policy affect ~ directly and 

indirectly? Who will benefit most/least? 

 

2. What is the view of service 

users/stakeholders? What consultation has 

been undertaken? Did the consultation 

process comply with the Gunning 

Principles? Do stakeholders believe it will 

achieve the desired outcome? 

 

3. What is the view of the community as a 

whole - the ‘taxpayer’ perspective? 

 

4. What methods were used to consult 

with stakeholders? Did the process 

enable all those with a stake to have 

their say? 

 

5. What practice and options have been 

considered in developing/reviewing this 

policy? What evidence is there to inform 

what works? Does the policy relate to an 

area where there is a lack of published 

research or other evidence? 

 

6. Does the policy relate to an area where 

there are known inequalities? 

 

7. Does this policy align to our corporate 

objectives, as defined in our corporate 

plan? Does it adhere to our Welsh 

Language Standards? 

 



 

 

8. Have all relevant sustainable development, 

equalities and safeguarding implications 

 

9. been taken into consideration? For 

example, what are the procedures that 

need to be in place to protect children? 

10.  

11. How much will this cost to implement and 

what funding source has been identified? 

12.  

13. How will performance of the policy be 

measured and the impact evaluated 

General Questions: 

Empowering Communities 

 How are we involving local communities and empowering them to design and deliver 

services to suit local need? 

 Do we have regular discussions with communities about service priorities and what level 

of service the council can afford to provide in the future? 

 Is the service working with citizens to explain the role of different partners in delivering 

the service, and managing expectations? 

 Is there a framework and proportionate process in place for collective performance 

assessment, including from a citizen’s perspective, and do you have accountability 

arrangements to support this? 

 Has an Equality Impact Assessment been carried out? If so, can the Leader and 

Cabinet/Senior Officers provide members with copies and a detailed explanation of the 

EQIA conducted in respect of these proposals? 

 Can the Leader and Cabinet/Senior Officers assure members that these proposals 

comply with Equality and Human Rights legislation? Do the proposals comply with the 

Local Authority’s Strategic Equality Plan? 

Service Demands 

 How will policy and legislative change affect how the council operates? 

 Have we considered the demographics of our council and how this will impact on service 

delivery and funding in the future? 

 Have you identified and considered the long-term trends that might affect your service 

area, what impact these trends could have on your service/your service could have on 

these trends, and what is being done in response? 

 

Financial Planning 

 Do we have robust medium and long-term financial plans in place? 

 Are we linking budgets to plans and outcomes and reporting effectively on these? 

 

Making savings and generating income 

 Do we have the right structures in place to ensure that our efficiency, improvement and 

transformational approaches are working together to maximise savings? 



 

 

 How are we maximising income? 

  Have we compared other council’s policies to maximise income and fully considered 

the implications on service users? 

 Do we have a workforce plan that takes into account capacity, costs, and skills of the 

actual versus desired workforce? 

 

Questions to ask within a year of the decision: 

 Were the intended outcomes of the proposal achieved or were there other results? 

 Were the impacts confined to the group you initially thought would be affected i.e. older 

people, or were others affected e.g. people with disabilities, parents with young children? 

 Is the decision still the right decision or do adjustments need to be made? 

 

Questions for the Committee to conclude… 

Do we have the necessary information to form conclusions/make recommendations to the 

executive, council, other partners? If not, do we need to: 

(i) Investigate the issue in more detail? 

(ii) Obtain further information from other witnesses – Executive Member, independent 

expert, members of the local community, service users, regulatory bodies…  

Agree further actions to be undertaken within a timescale/future monitoring report… 

  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

SUBJECT: Gwent Public Services Board Draft Wellbeing Plan 2023 - 2028 

MEETING: Public Services Scrutiny Committee 

DATE: 1st March 2023  

DIVISIONS/WARDS AFFECTED:  All  

 
 
1. PURPOSE  
 
1.1 To provide to the Scrutiny Committee, the final draft of the Gwent Public Services Board Wellbeing 

Plan 2023-2028, for consideration and comment.   
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
2.1  The committee scrutinises the draft Wellbeing Plan and provide feedback to the chair of the Gwent 

PSB, and Monmouthshire County Council representative members of the PSB, ahead of its 
consideration and approval.   

 
3.  KEY ISSUES 
 
3.1 The intention of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act is to improve the economic, 

social, environmental, and cultural wellbeing of Wales, by acting in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle aimed at achieving seven national wellbeing goals. 

 
3.2      The Act puts a wellbeing duty on specified public bodies to act jointly via Public Services Boards 

(PSB) to improve the economic, social, environmental, and cultural wellbeing of their area by 
contributing to the achievement of the wellbeing goals. Public services boards’ contribution to the 
achievement of the goals must include: 

 

 assessing the state of economic, social, environmental, and cultural wellbeing in their areas 
setting local objectives that are designed to maximise their contribution within their areas 
to achieving those goals 

 setting local objectives that are designed to maximise their contribution within their areas 
to achieving those goals 

 the taking of all reasonable steps by statutory members of boards (in exercising their 
functions) to meet those objectives 
 

3.3  The Gwent Public Services Board (PSB), a statutory board under the Act, was established in 
September 2021, following the disbandment of local PSBs across Gwent.   

 
3.4  The Gwent PSB undertook a regional Wellbeing assessment which reviewed the social, economic, 

environmental, and cultural wellbeing in Gwent. The assessment used a wide range of qualitative 

and quantitative information including data, academic research, evidence, and people’s views 

(engagement) to help understand Wellbeing in Gwent, Monmouthshire, and communities within 

the county. The assessment took an asset-based approach, rather than focussing purely on need, 

to build upon and identify the strengths of both individuals and communities and it also identified 

problems and challenges that need to be addressed. The evidence and key issues identified in the 

assessment have been used to develop the draft Wellbeing Plan for Gwent.  

3.5  The draft Wellbeing Plan is the first wellbeing plan of the regional Public Services Board, and it 

aims to set out the wellbeing objectives of the Gwent PSB and the steps it intends to take to meet 

those objectives.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

3.6 The final Wellbeing Plan must be published within 12 months of an election i.e., by the 5th of May 

2023 and is subject to a range of formal consultation and approval processes. The Public Services 

Scrutiny Committee were a formal statutory consultee under Section 43 of the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and previously received the first draft of the Gwent Wellbeing plan 

for consideration and feedback on 28th November 2022.   

3.7  Following the statutory consultation period, the draft wellbeing plan has now set out two key 
objectives for the region, informed by the data, evidence, and feedback from a broad range of 
contributors and audiences.  The feedback has been considered and has helped to shape the two 
main objectives and steps in the final draft of the plan; the two main objectives are now;   

 
• OBJETIVE 1: We want to create a fairer, more equitable and inclusive Gwent for all 
• OBJECTIVE 2: We want to create a more climate-aware Gwent, where our 

environment is valued and protected, ensuring our wellbeing now and for future 
generations  
 
 

3.8  The Gwent PSB is continuing to work with Professor Michael Marmot and the Institute of Health 
Equity, based at the University College London, as part of the Gwent Marmot pilot region.  This 
work will be embedded through activity and delivery of the plan, which will be aimed at reducing 
inequality and inequity between populations guided by the eight Marmot principles which 
encompass the determinants of wellbeing, the eight principles are;  

 
• Give every child the best start in life 
• Enable all children, young people, and adults to maximise their capabilities 
• and have control over their lives 
• Create fair employment and good work for all 
• Ensure a healthy standard of living for all 
• Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities 
• Strengthen the role and impact of ill-health prevention 
• Tackle racism, discrimination, and their outcomes 
• Pursue environmental sustainability and health equity together 

 

3.9  The Gwent PSB will receive the final draft Wellbeing Plan on 16th March 2023, which will allow 
them to comment or amend the plan before it is formally agreed for the region.    

 
3.10 It is also worth noting that once the Gwent Wellbeing Plan has been agreed, a local delivery plan 

for Monmouthshire will subsequently be developed by the Monmouthshire Programme Board 
(official Local Delivery Group of the Gwent PSB) to establish delivery of the regional priorities at a 
local level, and to also deliver on priorities that are unique to Monmouthshire.   

 
 

4.  RESOURCES 
 
4.1  The Wellbeing Plan sets a strategic direction for the Gwent PSB.  Specific projects to help achieve 

the wellbeing objectives will be developed once the plan is agreed.  Where addition funding will be 
required, costed recommendations will be made to the appropriate decision maker.  

 
 
5. EQUALITY, SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS  

 
5.1 The Gwent Wellbeing Plan has been developed in line with equalities legislation and the 

sustainable development principle, including Wellbeing goals, under the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act. The draft plan applies the ways of working outlined in the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act. Impact assessments will be completed to inform the delivery plans under the 
Gwent Wellbeing plan.  

 

Page 2



3 
 

 
 
6. AUTHORS:  
 

Sharran Lloyd  
Strategic Partnerships Manager 
E-mail: Sharranlloyd@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
Richard Jones   
Performance & Data Insight Manager 
E-mail: Richardjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

mailto:Sharranlloyd@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:Richardjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 

 

 

Well-being Plan for Gwent 

16/02/2023 

 

 

 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Public Services Board Membership ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

How our plan was developed ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Timeline ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 6 

Seven Well-being Goals ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

The Marmot Principles – Building a Fairer Gwent........................................................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Overarching principles ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Effectively working together ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Communication and Engagement .................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Welsh language and culture ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 10 

Performance management .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 11 

Our Well-being Objectives ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 12 

We want to create a fairer, more equitable and inclusive Gwent for all. .......................................................................................................................................... 12 

Steps ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Take action to reduce the cost of living crisis in the longer term ............................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Provide and enable the supply of good quality, affordable, appropriate homes ..................................................................................................................................... 15 

Taking action to reduce our carbon emissions, help Gwent adapt to climate change, and protect and restore our natural environment ..................................... 16 

  

P
age 5



 

2 

 

Take action to address inequities, particularly in relation to health, through the framework of the Marmot Principles ..................................................................... 17 

Enable and support people, neighbourhoods, and communities to be resilient, connected, thriving and safe .................................................................................. 18 

What happens next?........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

How the Marmot Principles link to the steps ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Connections with other Partnerships and Plans ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 21 

Local Delivery Groups ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Regional Partnership Board (RPB)................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Building a Fairer Gwent – a Marmot Region ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Community Safety Partnership ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Cardiff Capital Region ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Strategic Corporate Plans ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Area Statements ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Participatory budgeting ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

Third Sector Partnership Agreement .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 22 

Appendices ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 23 

 

 

  

P
age 6



 

3 

 

Introduction  
Welcome to the first Well-being Plan for Gwent, setting out how we are working together to respond to some of the key issues identified in our 

most recent Well-being Assessment. As part of planning for the next 25 years, and beyond, this five year plan sets out what we will be doing to 

improve well-being across the region, now and for future generations. Many of the issues we know that affect the well-being of a region will take 

more than a few months or even years to solve, so the plan has tried to look for longer term solutions which may take a bit longer to show 

results. There will, of course, be things we can do in the short term, but those will need to help deliver benefits in the years to come.  

 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act established Public Services Boards, more commonly known as PSBs, for each local authority 

area to work together to improve well-being in their area. PSBs are made up of senior leaders from the Local Authority, the Health Board, the 

Fire and Rescue Service and Natural Resources Wales. A number of other organisations are also invited to join the PSB, such as the Police 

Service, the Police and Crime Commissioner and the voluntary sector.  

 

In September 2021 the five PSBs in Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Newport, Monmouthshire, and Torfaen came together to form the Gwent PSB, 

working across the region, and locally. This decision was made to simplify and strengthen the existing partnership arrangements by bringing all 

the public services together. The move to a regional PSB, with collective responsibility for improving well-being, makes it easier for partners to 

actively get involved, to add value and avoid doing the same thing several times. 

 

The Well-being Assessment for Gwent, published last year, showed that inequality and deprivation in our communities and the need to take 

action on the climate and nature emergencies were having an impact on well-being. This Well-being Plan outlines how we, the PSB, will work 

together to tackle the social, economic, environmental and cultural issues which can affect well-being in Gwent.  

P
age 7



 

4 

 

 

Public Services Board Membership  

 

    

  

P
age 8



 

5 

 

How our plan was developed  
 

We used the new Well-being Assessment to identify the issues which had the most effect on well-being, and where we could achieve more by 

working together than working alone and making better use of the resources we have. This is often known as ‘added value’. We identified these 

issues:  

 Health inequalities and well-being (including housing)  

 Community cohesion (including community safety and substance misuse) 

 Environment (including climate and nature emergencies) 

 

Over the summer of 2022 more work was done to get a better understanding of these issues and how they affected our communities. This 

involved pulling on a wide range of knowledge and experience, including from the Future Generations Commissioner’s office, learning from 

others and examples of good practice from across Wales and beyond. The Future Generations Report was another source of information about 

what the future might mean for things like jobs or flooding.   

 

The draft Well-being Plan for Gwent went out for consultation in October 2022. It had three objectives, each with several supporting steps. Full 

details of the consultation process can be found in Appendix 1. (To come) 

 

Following the consultation the responses were assessed and analysed. The responses came from five sources: the survey, community events, 

stakeholder events, statutory consultee responses and individual written responses. To understand what the most important issues were for 

people the issues raised in the consultation were then ranked according to how many of the response sources commented on each one. These 

became the objectives and steps in this Well-being Plan. We will continue to use the information from the consultation as we develop each step’s 

delivery plan in the Plan as well as continuing to engage communities and groups in our work going forward.  

  

P
age 9



 

6 

 

Timeline 
 

May 2022 

Well-being Assessment published 

Summer 2022 

Further work to understand key 

issues 

Summer 2022 

14 week Advice Period with the 

FGC 

September 2022 

Consultation draft 

 Well-being Plan agreed 

1st Oct – 31st Dec 2022 

Consultation period 

January 2023 

Understanding the consultation 

responses 

February 2023 

Well-being Plan prepared 
Feb – April 2023 

Well-being Plan approval process 

May 2023 

Well-being Plan  

2023 -2028 published 

P
age 10



 

7 

 

Five Ways of Working 

Just as when we were preparing the Well-being Assessment, we have used the five ways of working, collaboration, integration, involvement, 

long-term, and prevention, to guide our work. This means that while considering how to improve well-being in our communities now, we’ve also 

looked at how well-being could be affected in the future and how we can prevent issues becoming worse. We will need to work together to see 

what we’re each doing in a community and how this affects what we do, individually and in partnership. Finally, but most importantly, we want our 

communities, professionals, businesses, and others to identify the issues which are most important to them. As we develop how we will be 

delivering the Objectives and Steps (regional and local delivery plans) we will continue to use these principles to guide our work.  

 

 
Figure 1: The 5 ways of working from the Well-being of Future Generations Act 

 

 

  

P
age 11



 

8 

 

Seven Well-being Goals 
The actions in this Well-being Plan must contribute to the Well-being Goals for Wales. Together they show the Wales we’d like for the future and 

cover all aspects of well-being. Each of the goals are as important as each other, although this plan may do more for one goal than for another.  

 

 
Figure 2: The 7 Well-being Goals from the Well-being of Future Generations Act 

 

 

P
age 12



 

9 

 

 

The Marmot Principles – Building a Fairer Gwent  
 

Recognising the inequality that exists in our communities, identified in the Well-being Assessment, the Gwent Public Services Board has agreed 

to become a ‘Marmot region’ using this collaborative approach to undertake evidence-based action to reduce inequalities in Gwent.  

The Marmot Principles provide a framework to inform the actions to respond to the challenges faced across Gwent. This will re-focus and 

accelerate progress towards reducing the root causes of health and related inequalities across Gwent. As part of this, the PSB will use the eight 

Marmot Principles, alongside the Objectives and Steps, to shape the delivery of this Well-being Plan.  

 

Eight Marmot Principles 

1. Give every child the best start in life 

2. Enable all children, young people, and adults to maximise their capabilities and have control over their lives 

3. Create fair employment and good work for all 

4. Ensure a healthy standard of living for all 

5. Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities 

6. Strengthen the role and impact of ill-health prevention 

7. Tackle racism, discrimination, and their outcomes 

8. Pursue environmental sustainability and health equity together 

 

The Institute of Health Equity is producing a report for the PSB detailing the actions needed to tackle inequity across Gwent. As the delivery 

plans are developed this report will help to guide our work. The report, Appendix 2, is due to be published in June 2023.  

  

 

P
age 13



 

10 

 

 

Overarching principles 
As a new PSB we have agreed that there are some things that we would all want to sign up to. These aren’t Objectives or Steps but they are the 

things that will make us work more effectively together and make the positive changes we want for Gwent. They are our Overarching Principles, 

our ways of working, and reflect the five ways of working in the Well-being of Future Generations Act.  

 

Effectively working together  
Public Services Boards were established to promote better joined up working and a better understanding of how the different organisations 

contribute to the well-being of an area. We must make sure that what we do isn’t making it more difficult for others to do what they need to. We 

should be sharing knowledge, expertise, and resources whenever possible and avoid doing the same thing many times over. There will be things 

that are best done by one or two partners, but where working together is the best option, we will do this. This Well-being Plan is about the things 

we can do better together, the ‘added value’.  

 

Communication and Engagement 

While we have been developing the Well-being Assessment and Plan we have tried to engage with people and communities. We know we 

haven’t always been as successful as we would have liked to be, and the Covid-19 restrictions have made it even harder to meet you. As we 

continue to develop and deliver this plan we want to keep talking with you, to understand your concerns and ideas. We also want to work with our 

communities, when we can, to create local solutions that contribute to the regional ones.  

A full report about the Plan’s consultation is available here [hyperlink]. If you’d like to be involved in the future, either just to be kept informed, or 

to be more involved where possible, please contact: GwentPSB@caerphilly.gov.uk 

  

Welsh language and culture 
A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language is one of the goals in the Well-being of Future Generations Act. Each of the seven well-

being goals describes an aspect of the Wales we want for the future, and they are all interlinked. The Welsh language forms a part of, and plays 

a part in all aspects of employment, education, culture, health and social care, community cohesion, the economy and more. 

 

Being able to use the Welsh language is a valuable skill in all parts of life across Wales. It is also a key part of Wales’ cultural heritage. Each of 

the PSB members have a statutory duty to promote the Welsh language, but together we will encourage the increase in the use Welsh by; using 

it more with each other, consulting more in Welsh and producing more of our information bilingually, rather than just our main documents.  

 

P
age 14



 

11 

 

The PSB organisations are major employers and together we can promote opportunities for our staff and workforce to learn and use the 

language. Schemes like ‘Helo Blod,’ can be used by the PSB to promote the Welsh language together as members. The Welsh language is also 

a central part of the community services such as health, social and primary care. ‘More than Just Words’ aims to improve the service for social 

services, health, and social care. The PSB will continue to use media and social media through both languages and look at how else it can 

encourage the use of the Welsh language in all its activities.  

  

Performance management  

We need to know whether what we’re doing is making a difference. We have agreed to have a single ‘performance management’ process, which 

will show us how well-being is improving. The indicators will be included in the Step Delivery Plans to make sure that we’re looking at the right 

things. The annual reports will include how much progress we’ve made against these key measures. The PSB will need to take responsibility for 

ensuring that we’re making the progress we’ve agreed we need to make.  

 

Because the PSB is all about partnership working, we will also need to share the information we each have around issues. Each of our 

organisations is collecting data all the time, and there’s also research and information coming from universities, Government agencies, the 

Census and a range of other places. All this information will be useful to the PSB, and the individual member organisations and we need to find a 

way of being able to share that safely and efficiently.  

  

P
age 15



 

12 

 

Our Well-being Objectives 
 

Using the evidence in the Well-being Assessment, the PSB has identified two interconnecting objectives (what we want to achieve). These will 

set the direction for our work for the next five years and beyond. 

 

We want to create a fairer, more equitable and inclusive Gwent for all. 
 

The latest Well-being Assessment showed that although our communities are strong with many people feeling connected to their 

neighbourhoods and proud of their surroundings, the inequalities that exists in our communities have the potential to impact on all aspects of 

well-being both at a personal and community level. There are also a range of challenges that could potentially widen these inequalities in the 

future and impact negatively on well-being. People who live in more deprived communities have fewer years of life that are free from ill health 

and are more likely to have shorter lives. Children from deprived households get poorer school results; limiting their opportunities and increasing 

the risk that poverty will be passed from one generation to the next. Some people in our communities are experiencing in-work poverty with the 

amount of spare money they have after paying their bills making it difficult to afford food, transport, energy and to be digitally connected – 

especially as costs increase.  

 

Many people still feel unsafe, lonely or alone. Widening economic, health, well-being and other inequalities have affected community cohesion, 

safety and empowerment.  The assessment tells us that home ownership is already unaffordable for many low-income households, and as 

house prices rise more pressure is put on our social housing stock. Future Gwent will also need more housing stock that meets the needs of an 

ageing population and changing family structures and is resilient to a changing climate.  

 

The Covid-19 pandemic, the cost of living crisis, the UK’s exit from the EU, the war in Ukraine, and the increasing impacts of climate change, 

make the lives, livelihoods, health, safety and well-being of the people of Gwent even more challenging. If action isn’t taken, this will lead to 

poorer health and well-being because of increased deprivation, substance misuse, mental health problems, civil disorder and crime, and 

antisocial behaviour. Evidence is already showing this will impact the health and well-being of already disadvantaged people and communities 

the most, who will need additional focus and support. 

  

P
age 16



 

13 

 

 

 

We want a climate-ready Gwent, where our environment is valued and protected, benefitting our well-being now and for 

future generations. 

 

The latest Well-being Assessment showed that Gwent’s countryside, coastline, rivers and urban greenspaces are not all in good condition, Many 
of our plants and animals are in decline. This drop is, in turn, making it more difficult to deal with challenges such as climate change, poverty and 
inequality. The ‘green economy’ could provide jobs in the industries of the future such as renewables, energy efficiency and decarbonisation and 
supporting good health. Many of the unsustainable approaches that are putting pressure on our natural resources are also causing the climate to 
change. We need Gwent’s natural resources to be resilient to the impacts of a changing climate including more extreme weather events. There 
will also be challenges associated with transitioning to a low carbon future, and we will need to consider the whole energy system – heat, power 
and transport. Whilst projections of milder winters associated with a changing climate may help to reduce fuel poverty, we know that much of our 
housing stock has poor thermal efficiency and will be challenging to retrofit. 
 
For us to enjoy the benefits that nature can provide, our natural areas must be healthy and able to withstand threats and disturbance, such as 
climate change, urban development and pollution. This will require us all to work differently and really understand how we interact with our 
environment and the impacts we’re having.  
 
To do this we need to change our food, energy and transport systems so they work better for nature and for us, reducing climate change and 
protecting the resources our future generations will rely on. Developing the ‘green economy’ could provide local jobs in the industries of the future 
such as renewables, energy efficient housing and decarbonisation. Increasing the supply of locally grown food is better for nature, our health and 
reduces pollution. If we change how we travel around Gwent we can reduce carbon emissions, benefit local wildlife and our well-being. 

 

 

  

P
age 17



 

14 

 

Steps 

We have identified five steps that will help us to achieve our two well-being objectives. Delivery plans for each step explaining what will be done 

in the short, medium and longer term, who will do it and by when, will be developed during the first year of the plan using the five ways of working 

as a framework. These will be published as part of the first annual report. Work may begin on delivering some steps before the delivery plans are 

completed if it can be, especially if we already have the information we need to take action. The delivery plans will be complemented by local 

action plans at a county level. These will be written by Local Delivery Groups, which mirror the membership of the PSB but at a more local level.  

 

Take action to reduce the cost of living crisis in the longer term  
Although the cost of living crisis began after the Well-being Assessment was completed, we know that it is likely to make the poverty, deprivation 

and inequity in our communities worse and can increase crime and antisocial behaviour. Voluntary and community groups, councils and others 

are already providing support to many and will continue to do what they can.  

 

While dealing with the immediate issues we must make sure that what we do now doesn’t make things even harder in the future. The right 

training and skills will enable people to get decent work with pay that helps them to provide for their families. The growth in local renewable 

energy production and use, could provide better jobs, a cleaner environment and potentially cheaper energy for everyone. The need to make our 

homes and businesses more energy efficient and better insulated, will offer opportunities for local social enterprises and traditional businesses.  

 

Technological changes will mean that services can be provided differently, as we saw during the pandemic, with services provided virtually or 

closer to home, offering alternative travel options and reducing pollution. We will need to make sure that any changes in the way people access 

services is designed around their needs and uses new technology to support those. Local food production will help people be able to eat healthy, 

more affordable food as well as providing opportunities to share their knowledge, and failures, with others. More local food production also helps 

to reduce the impact on the environment and is less prone to supply disruption.  

 

Links to the other steps 

Homes  Environment  Health  Communities  

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

P
age 18



 

15 

 

 

Provide and enable the supply of good quality, affordable, appropriate homes  
Having a home is central to a person’s well-being. It means they can get a job, an education, the help and support they may need and allows 

them to feel part of a community or neighbourhood. Homes can be owned by the person living in them, rented from the council, a housing 

association, or a private landlord. How many homes are rented or owned is different across the region, as are the costs of buying or renting a 

home. The Well-being Assessment showed that the average house price in Monmouthshire is around three times that in Blaenau Gwent. Being 

able to afford to pay the rent or mortgage is only part of the story.  

 

The cost of living in that home has also been increasing and many homes could be much more energy efficient, tackling both climate change and 

fuel poverty. As Wales moves towards being carbon neutral the need to make homes more energy efficient and better insulated is becoming 

more important. Insulating homes should help people to stay healthier for longer, help to reduce energy use and therefore costs, provide good 

quality local jobs as well as helping to protect the natural environment around the world.  

 

Homes need to be in the right place to support individuals and the community, with access to local shops, workplaces, schools, health care, 

cultural and leisure activities, and transport. We know that as the climate changes there are likely to be more floods, storms, heatwaves and 

other weather events and homes need to be able to cope with those. Communities are changing, with more blended families, older people and 

people living alone, so housing needs to be adaptable and suitable for those changes. 

 

The consultation showed that having good quality, affordable housing was an important issue for our communities. How housing is provided is 

very different across the region. The PSB wants to work together to improve the quality of homes in Gwent, but it will take some time to identify 

work we can do together because of the different rules and funding available to the different organisations.  

 

Links to other steps 

Cost of living Environment Health  Communities  

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

 

P
age 19



 

16 

 

Taking action to reduce our carbon emissions, help Gwent adapt to climate change, and protect and restore our natural environment  
Protecting the environment for future generations is one of the greatest challenges of our time. The land, air, water, trees, plants, animals, and 

insects provide us with everything we need to live. However, our need for new homes and workplaces, renewable energy, recreation, and food 

production are putting nature under pressure. Without a healthy environment across Gwent there can be no well-being benefits for our 

communities.  

 

The effects of climate change are being felt in our communities through flooding and heat waves. The Welsh public sector is committed to 

become carbon neutral by 2030. We must reduce Gwent’s carbon emissions by increasing our use of renewable and sustainable energy 

sources, increasing availability of local food, reducing waste, and changing how we travel around Gwent. We want to support our communities to 

adapt to the impacts of climate change, recognising that some communities are more exposed to floods, heatwaves, air pollution and other 

climate risks to health.  

 

We need to better manage the demands on Gwent’s natural environment and protect, connect and restore nature. We’ll support community 

green/blue space initiatives which bring communities together, especially in areas of Gwent which have least access to local, quality outdoor 

spaces for health and well-being. Whilst focusing on the immediate needs across Gwent, we’ll also ensure our decisions consider future trends, 

and don’t make things even harder for future generations. 

 

Links to other steps 

Cost of living  Health Homes Communities 

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

 

P
age 20



 

17 

 

 

Take action to address inequities, particularly in relation to health, through the framework of the Marmot Principles 
People’s health and well-being is affected by many things, clean air, water, and food, being able to get decent work, a suitable home, having 

local shops, access to culture and leisure activities, a quality education, good transport and social networks as well as health information and 

care. Where someone lives and how much money they have impacts on their health and happiness, it can lead to poorer health and less 

opportunity to thrive in life. 

 

The Gwent PSB has agreed to use the framework of the eight Marmot Principles, developed by Prof. Sir Michael Marmot and his team at the 

Institute of Health Equity, which focus on the central issues that affect fairness, health and well-being. This approach will help to identify how to 

address the root causes of poor health and inequity across Gwent. The Institute of Health Equity is writing a report, using the evidence from the 

Well-being Assessment, the consultation responses, and their experience of working in other areas across the UK, to make recommendations for 

how the Gwent PSB and other regional partnerships, can take action to reduce inequities across Gwent. This report will form the basis of the 

action plan for this step.  

 

Links to other steps 

Cost of living  Environment Homes Communities 

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

 

  

P
age 21



 

18 

 

 

Enable and support people, neighbourhoods, and communities to be resilient, connected, thriving and safe 
During the Covid-19 pandemic, communities across Gwent pulled together to support each other in times of need. But the cost of living crisis and 

the war in Ukraine have made existing inequities and poverty worse, with crime and antisocial behaviour increasing as people find life harder. We 

also know that there are some people, or communities, living in the region that don’t feel as welcome, safe, or supported as they should. This 

could be because they are old, sick, at risk from flooding, domestic violence, drug misuse or racism. Many of these issues have been there for 

decades, with poor housing, health, and jobs, making it harder for people to improve their well-being.  

 

Thriving communities need safe, affordable, suitable homes, access to sports, leisure, and cultural activities, with opportunities to get involved 

through paid work or volunteering, and in the language of their choice. There are historical buildings and areas across Gwent that could be used 

as community resources for local arts programmes and other activities, providing an opportunity to promote and share knowledge about the local 

heritage, history, and culture.  

 

Communities need decent, reliable transport that enables people to access services, get to decent work, attend events, or visit family and 

friends, safely, cheaply and in a low carbon way. The beautiful countryside provides the space for exercise and recreation for people of all ages, 

benefiting their physical and mental health and providing opportunities to reduce the effects of extreme weather events, caused by a changing 

climate. 

 

Links to other steps 

Cost of living  Environment  Health Homes 

 

Contribution to the national Well-being Goals 

Prosperous Resilient Healthier Equal Cohesive Culture & Language Global 

       

 

  

P
age 22



 

19 

 

What happens next?  
 

During the first year of this Plan we will be preparing detailed delivery plans at a regional and local level. Working with our Local Delivery Groups, 

other partnerships, communities, Community Councils, voluntary groups, and others, we will get a better understanding of what needs to be done 

and how best to do it. These delivery plans will form the basis of the first annual report, along with updates. There may be things we can do in the 

short term, such as finding out more about how something similar has been done before or declaring a nature emergency or promoting fair pay 

within our organisations.  But we must make sure that these support our long-term objectives and the steps we have identified. 

 

 

  

P
age 23



 

20 

 

 

 

How the Marmot Principles link to the steps 
 

 Cost of living Housing Environment Health equity Community 

Give every child the best start in life      

Enable all children, young people, and adults to 
maximise their capabilities and have control over 
their lives 

     

Create fair employment and good work for all      

Ensure a healthy standard of living for all      

Create and develop healthy and sustainable places 
and communities 

     

Strengthen the role and impact of ill-health 
prevention 

     

Tackle racism, discrimination, and their outcomes      

Pursue environmental sustainability and health 
equity together 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 24



 

21 

 

Connections with other Partnerships and Plans 
Across the Gwent region, and beyond, there are a number of other partnerships and initiatives which will make a difference to people and rather 

than repeat what these groups are doing, the Gwent PSB will look to work with them to deliver its objectives for Gwent.  

 

Local Delivery Groups 
In each of the local authority areas which make up the Gwent region, Local Delivery Groups (LDGs) have been set up to deliver the PSB’s 

objectives at the local level. Their membership is similar to that of the PSB, with additional local representation. Activity to deliver the objectives 

may look different in different areas and the LDGs will be able to better connect with and draw on local expertise and groups to provide a local 

flavour. In time these groups may want to deliver their own action plans creating a link between local and regional priorities and action.  

 

Regional Partnership Board (RPB) 
The Gwent RPB brings together the health board, local authorities and the voluntary sector to ensure effective services, and care and support is 

in place to best meet the needs of the people of Gwent. The priority areas they need to work on are services for: older people with complex 

needs and long-term conditions, including dementia; people with learning disabilities; carers, including young carers; Integrated Family Support 

Services; children with complex needs due to disability or illness. The RPB must write a Population Needs Assessment and an Area Plan. These 

complement the Well-being Assessment and this Well-being Plan. The PSB will support the work of the RPB, and they will support our work, but 

we will make sure that we’re not duplicating each other’s work.  

 

Building a Fairer Gwent – a Marmot Region 
A Marmot Region is a network of local stakeholders committed to tackling inequity through action on the social determinants of health – the 

social and economic conditions which shape our health with action framed within eight principles. Becoming a Marmot Region demonstrates that 

we want to work together at a senior level to improve equity across Gwent, and improve the lives of all our communities.  

 

Community Safety Partnership  

To come  

 

Cardiff Capital Region 
The Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) is a collaborative partnership comprising the ten Local Authorities that make up South East Wales and 

represents almost half the population of Wales.  The CCR delivers a wide range of regeneration and investment projects, managed by a 

dedicated team and a ring-fenced £1.2bn investment fund, through the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, which aims to deliver 25,000 new jobs 

and generate an additional £4bn of private sector investment by 2036.  The CCR’s high-profile projects include: the £50m Innovation Investment 

P
age 25



 

22 

 

Capital fund, supporting business to scale up; the £50m Sites and Premises Fund, developing new sites to support the delivery of their Industrial 

and Economic Plan; the £10m Challenge Fund, supporting Local Authority innovation to accelerate decarbonisation and transform communities; 

the Homes for the Region programme to deliver 2,800 new homes; and several Metro projects transforming public transport infrastructure across 

the region.   

 

Strategic Corporate Plans 
These are the plans each of the organisations that make up the PSB have for what they are going to do over the next 3 – 5 years. These have 

difference names in different organisations but they all set the high level direction for that organisation including their own Well-being Objectives 

which need to align to those of the PSB.  

 

Area Statements  
The South East Wales Area Statement (SEAS) informs internal and external planning across Gwent and helps stakeholders (including the PSB) 

consider different ways of working together.  

 

The Area Statement process helps explore and shape aspirational ways of working. It has 4 themes: Linking Our Landscapes, Climate Ready 

Gwent, Healthy Active Connected and Ways of Working. The collaborative actions identified under each theme are underpinned by best 

available evidence, local knowledge and understanding gathered throughout the development of the SEAS. The outcomes under each of the four 

strategic themes will deliver the Area Statement vision for South East. This vision has been developed collaboratively over the course of the Area 

Statement process and is underpinned by what specialists and wider stakeholders want to see in Gwent. 

 

Participatory budgeting 
To come 

 

Third Sector Partnership Agreement 
To come 

  

P
age 26



 

23 

 

Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Consultation and engagement – chapter 

 

Appendix 2 Marmot Report 

 

Appendix 3 RPB Area Plan  

 

Appendix 4 PSBs in Gwent’s Well-being Objectives 2018 – 2023 

  

P
age 27



 

24 

 

Appendix 4 

PSBs in Gwent’s Well-being Objectives 2018 – 2023 

 

Blaenau Gwent PSB Caerphilly PSB Newport PSB Monmouthshire PSB Torfaen PSB 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
to forge new pathways 
to prosperity 

Positive Change -a 
shared commitment to 
improving the way we 
work together 

People feel part of their 
community and have a 
sense of belonging 

Respond to the challenges 
associated with 
demographic change.  

Develop a functional, 
connected network of 
natural areas that support 
the current and future 
well-being needs of local 
populations 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
everyone to have the 
best start to life. 

Positive Start- giving 
our future generations 
the best start in life 

Provide children and 
young people with the 
best possible start in 
life 

Provide Children and 
young people with the 
best start in life. 

Provide children and 
young people with the 
best possible start in life. 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
safe and friendly 
communities. 

Positive People- 
empowering and 
enabling all our 
residents to achieve 
their own potential. 

Ensuring people feel 
safe in their 
communities. 

 Create safe, confident 
communities and promote 
community cohesion 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
to encourage and 
enable people to make 
healthy lifestyle 
choices in places that 
they live, learn, work 
and play.  

Positive Places-
enabling our 
communities to be 
resilient and 
sustainable 

Long and healthy lives 
for all 

 Support healthy lifestyles 
and enable people to age 
well. 

Blaenau Gwent wants 
to look after and 
protect its natural 
environment. 

 Newport has a clean 
and safe environment 
for people to use and 
enjoy. 

Protect and enhance 
resilience of our natural 
environment whilst 
mitigating and adapting to 
the impact of climate 
change. 

Develop mitigation and 
adaptation responses to 
the impacts of climate 
change 

  Improve the 
perceptions of Newport 

 Tackle the 
intergenerational patterns 

P
age 28



 

25 

 

as a place to live, work, 
visit and invest 

of poverty and develop 
economic resilience. 

  Drive up skill levels for 
economic and social 
well-being. 

Develop opportunities for 
communities and 
businesses to be part of 
an economically thriving 
and well-connected 
county. 

Improve local skills 
through work-force 
planning, training, 
apprenticeships, and 
volunteering opportunities. 

  People feel part of their 
community and have a 
sense of belonging 

  

  Participation in arts, 
heritage and history is 
important for people’s 
well-being 

  

  Improve air quality 
across the city 

  

  Communities are 
resilient to climate 
change 

  

  Participation in sports 
and physical activity is 
important for people’s 
well-being 

  

  People have access to 
stable homes in a 
sustainable supportive 
community 

  

 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 2023-24 
 

Public Services Scrutiny Committee 

Meeting Date Subject Purpose of Scrutiny Responsibility Type of Scrutiny  

20th February 2023 Draft Gwent Well-

being Plan 

Consultation with the Scrutiny Committee 

on the draft Gwent Well-being Plan 

following feedback from the committee at 

its last meeting.  

Sharran Lloyd 

Richard Jones 

External Scrutiny 

Stagecoach Bus 

Services 

Invitation to Stagecoach to attend to 

discuss service provision in Monmouthshire 

~ tentative. 

 External Scrutiny 

Hate Crime in 

Monmouthshire  

Discuss the data for Monmouthshire. Andy Mason  

Sharran Lloyd 

 

24th April 2023 VAWDASV Regional 

Strategy  

To conduct pre-decision scrutiny on the 

strategy. 

To be confirmed External Scrutiny 

County Lines 

 

*To be confirmed* 

   

19th June 2023 Integrated Services 

Partnership Board 

 

*To be confirmed* 

To discuss the role and remit of the 

Integrated Services Partnership Board and 

how it delivers services in Monmouthshire. 

Jane Rodgers and 

Nikki Needle 

 

Chair of the ISPB 

~Melanie Laidler 

 

Performance Review 

 

Early Years 

Transformation 

Programme 

To review the effectiveness of the service, 

identifying any areas of concern. 

To be confirmed. Performance Review 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7



Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 2023-24 
 

Public Services Scrutiny Committee 

Meeting Date Subject Purpose of Scrutiny Responsibility Type of Scrutiny  

23rd October 2023     

11th December 2023     

19th February 2024     

15th April 2024     

To be confirmed Pre-decision Scrutiny 

of the Public Service 

Board Annual Report 

To undertake pre-decision scrutiny of the 

report and to draw agree any items for 

future scrutiny.  

Richard Jones 

Sharran Lloyd 

 

Pre-decision 

Scrutiny/Performance 

Monitoring 

To be confirmed Dentistry Services for 

young people 

   

To be confirmed Rural Transport 

services (Stagecoach) 

   

 Flooding ~ Jointly 

with Place Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

   

 

P
age 32



Committee / 

Decision Maker

Meeting date / Decision 

due
Report Title Responsible Cabinet Member Purpose Author

Date item added to the 

planner

Council 01-Jul-25

RLDP for Adoption Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To adopt the RLDP following receipt of the 

Inspector's report, making it the County's 

Development Plan as defined by S38(6) of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Mark Hand / Rachel 

Lewis
23-Aug-22

Council 01-Sep-24

RLDP submission for examination Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To endorse the submission of the Deposit RLDP 

to the Welsh Government for examination by an 

independent Inspector.  By agreeing, Council will 

be saying it wants this document to be the 

adopted RLDP for Monmouthshire.

Mark Hand / Rachel 

Lewis
23-Aug-22

Council 18-Apr-24

RLDP Deposit Plan endorsement for consultation Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To endorse the Deposit RLDP for public 

consultation and engagement.
Mark Hand / Rachel 

Lewis
5-Jan-23

Cabinet 10-Apr-24

Adoption of Abergavenny Placemaking Plan Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

'To adopt the Abergavenny Placemaking Plan, co-

produced with Abergavenny Town Council, to 

inform future regeneration priorities and grant 

bids

Mark Hand / Dan 

Fordham
3-Oct-22

Cabinet 18-Jan-24

Adoption of Magor Placemaking Plan Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To adopt the Magor with Undy Placemaking Plan, 

co-produced with Magor with Undy Town Council, 

to inform future regeneration priorities and grant 

bids

Mark Hand / Dan 

Fordham
3-Oct-22

Cabinet 18-Jan-24

Adoption of Monmouth Placemaking Plan Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To adopt the Monmouth Placemaking Plan, co-

produced with Monmouth Town Council, to inform 

future regeneration priorities and grant bids
Mark Hand / Dan 

Fordham
3-Oct-22

Cabinet 18-Jan-24

2022/23 Revenue and Capital Monitoring - Month 9

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 10-Jan-24

Monmouthshire Destination Management Plan 

Matthew Lewis 10-Feb-22

Cabinet 13-Dec-23

Local Flood Strategy Catrin Maby To adopt the Local Flood Strategy Plan

Mark Hand / Ross 

Price
4-Oct-22

Council 26-Oct-23

Appointment of Monmouthshire Local Access Forum To secure the appointment of members to the 

Monmouthshire Local Access Forum for its next 3 

year period. Matthew Lewis 18-Jan-23

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 8



ICMD 25-Oct-23

LDP Annual Monitoring Report Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

'To endorse the LDP Annual Monitoring Report for 

submission to WG
Mark Hand / Rachel 

Lewis
16-Jan-23

ICMD 25-Oct-23

'Planning Annual Performance Report Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To endorse the Planning Department Annual 

Performance Report for submission to WG
Mark Hand / Rachel 

Lewis
16-Jan-23

Council 23-Oct-23

Appointment of Monmouthshire Local Access Forum To secure the appointment of members to the 

Monmouthshire Local Access Forum for its next 3 

year period. Matthew Lewis 18-Jan-23

Council 20-Jul-23

Economic Development Strategy REFRESHING THE MONMOUTHSHIRE 

BUSINESS GROWTH & ENTERPRISE 

STRATEGY and action plan in setting the 

economic ambition for the county and providing a 

strategic framework that guides future economic 

Hannah Jones 9-Jan-23

ICMD 28-Jun-23

Highways Traffic Regulation Amendment Order 10 Catrin Maby - Climate Change and 

Environment

Agreement to make the traffic order - Exception 

Orders to identify those restricted roads that will 

remain 30mph in September 2023 instead of 

defaulting to 20mph  

Mark Hand 3-Oct-22

Council 22-Jun-23

Standards Committee Annual Report This report is the first annual report from the 

Standards Committee to Council as required by 

the change in law set out in the Local 

Government and Elections Act 2021. It has to 

report on the discharge of the Committee’s 

Matt Phillips 10-Oct-22

Council 22-Jun-23

RLDP Preferred Strategy consultation report Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To endorse the RLDP Preferred Strategy 

including any proposed changes arising from the 

public consultation.
Mark Hand / Rachel 

Lewis
3-Oct-22

Cabinet 07-Jun-23

2022/23 Revenue and Capital Monitoring - Month 12

Jon Davies

Cabinet 07-Jun-23

Pavement Café Policy Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To adopt the pavement café policy as the basis 

for making decisions on applications for licences
Mark Hand / Paul 

Keeble
4-Oct-22

Cabinet 07-Jun-23

Local Transport Plan Catrin Maby To adopt the Local Transport Plan

Debra Hill-Howells / 

Christian Schmidt
4-Oct-22

Cabinet 07-Jun-23

Adoption of Transforming Chepstow Masterplan Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To adopt the Transforming Chepstow Masterplan, 

co-produced with Chepstow Town Council, to 

inform future regeneration priorities and grant 

bids

Mark Hand / Dan 

Fordham
3-Oct-22

P
age 34



Cabinet 07-Jun-23

Transforming Towns Strategic Grant regeneration 

priorities

Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To agree the priority projects for bids for WG 

Strategic grant funding to 24/25
Mark Hand / Dan 

Fordham
3-Oct-22

Cabinet 07-Jun-23

RESERVATION OF GRAVE PLOTS IN LLANFOIST 

CEMETERY

To seek cabinet approval to cease the provision 

of reserving grave spaces (not incl cremated 

remains plots) in Llanfoist Cemetery Rhian Jackson 7-Nov-22

Cabinet 07-Jun-23

Respite Opportunities for People with Learning 

Disabilities

Tudor Thomas - Social Care & 

Safeguarding

To provide an overview of the Review of Respite 

Services for people with learning disabilities and 

seek approval for implementation of  the report’s 

recommendations

Ceri York 9-Dec-22

Council 18-May-23

Political Balance Report The Council is required to review at, or as soon 

as practicable after, the Council’s annual meeting, 

the representation of different political groups on 

the bodies to which the Council makes 

appointments.  

Matt Phillips 2-Feb-23

Council 18-May-23

Outside Bodies Report To appoint representatives to serve on outside bodies.

Matt Phillips 2-Feb-23

Council 18-May-23

Appointments to Committees To appoint committees together with their 

membership and terms of reference in 

accordance with the Council’s Constitution. Nicola Perry 2-Feb-23

Council 18-May-23

Constitution update For the Monitoring Officer to bring proposed 

amendments and highlight changes made over 

the previous 12 months Matt Phillips 2-Feb-23

ICMD 10-May-23

Highways Traffic Regulation Amendment Order 9 Catrin Maby - Climate Change and 

Environment

Agreement to make the traffic order - including 

Llantrisant 20mph village lane, 40mph through 

road, possibly Llantrisant (Usk to Wentwood) 

50mph; 20mph Gilwern and surrounding villages

Mark Hand 3-Oct-22

Cabinet 03-May-23

Road Safety Strategy Catrin Maby To adopt the Road Safety Strategy

Mark Hand / Paul 

Keeble
4-Oct-22

Cabinet 03-May-23

 Socially Responsible Procurement Strategy Rachel Garrick - Resources To endorse the Socially Responsible 

Procurement Strategy

Scott James 22-Aug-22

Council 20-Apr-23

Motion for the Rivers and Oceans update 

Hazel Clatworthy 10-Jan-23

P
age 35



Council 20-Apr-23

Chief Officer Children and Young People’s Report 

2023 

Will McLean 14-Feb-23

Council 20-Apr-23

Corporate Parenting Strategy 

Diane Corrister 24-Aug-22

Council 20-Apr-23

Gwent Public Services Board Well-being plan To approve the Public Services Board’s Well-

being Plan that sets out the steps being taken 

collaboratively by public services to improve 

wellbeing in Gwent ahead of approval by the 

Gwent Public Services Board.

Richard Jones 20-Jan-23

ICMD 05-Apr-23

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 4 held 

on 9th March 2023

Dave Jarrett

Cabinet 05-Apr-23

Adoption of Transforming Chepstow Masterplan 

DEFERRED TO 7 JUNE

Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To adopt the Transforming Chepstow Masterplan, 

co-produced with Chepstow Town Council, to 

inform future regeneration priorities and grant 

bids

Mark Hand / Dan 

Fordham
3-Oct-22

Cabinet 05-Apr-23

Rapid Rehousing Transition Plan Sara Burch - Inclusive and Active 

Communities

To agree a plan to transition the delivery of 

homelessness that minimises the use of and the 

time homeless applicants spend in temporary 

accommodation

Rebecca Cresswell / 

Ian Bakewell
24-Jan-23

Cabinet 05-Apr-23

Transforming Towns Strategic Grant regeneration 

priorities DEFERRED TO 7 JUNE

Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To agree the priority projects for bids for WG 

Strategic grant funding to 24/25
Mark Hand / Dan 

Fordham
3-Oct-22

Council 09-Mar-23

Pay Policy To approve the publication of Monmouthshire 

County Council’s Pay Policy, in compliance with 

the Localism Act.” Sally Thomas 1-Feb-23

Council 20-Apr-23

Community and Corporate Plan To seek approval of a new Community and 

Corporate Plan that sets the direction for the 

council and county of Monmouthshire, articulating 

the authority’s purpose and priorities alongside 

the steps we will take to deliver these, the 

Matt Gatehouse 6-Feb-23

ICMD 22-Mar-23

Highways Traffic Regulation Amendment Order 8 Catrin Maby - Climate Change and 

Environment

Agreement to make the traffic order - including 

Monmouth Road, Raglan no right turn onto A40; 

resi permit parking at Exmouth Place, Chepstow 

and Ross Road, Abergavenny; 3T weight 

restriction on Old Wye Bridge Chepstow; waiting 

Mark Hand

Council 09-Mar-23

Council Tax Premiums 

Peter Davies 18-Jan-23

P
age 36



Council 09-Mar-23

Capital Strategy & Treasury Strategy

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Council 09-Mar-23

Youth Council

Jade Atkins 7-Dec-22

ICMD 08-Mar-23

Proposed amendment to primary school catchment 

area – Llandenny Village   

Martyn Groucutt - Education

Debbie Graves 10-Jan-23

ICMD 08-Mar-23

Highways Traffic Regulation Amendment Order 8 

DEFERRED TO 22 MARCH

Catrin Maby - Climate Change and 

Environment

Agreement to make the traffic order - including 

Monmouth Road, Raglan no right turn onto A40; 

resi permit parking at Exmouth Place, Chepstow 

and Ross Road, Abergavenny; 3T weight 

restriction on Old Wye Bridge Chepstow; waiting 

Mark Hand

Council 02-Mar-23

Final Budget Sign Off including Council Tax 

Resolution 

Jon Davies

Cabinet 01-Mar-23

2023/4 Final Revenue and Capital Budget Proposals

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 01-Mar-23

2023/4 WCF/Trust Treasury Fund Investments

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

Cabinet 01-Mar-23

Month 9 budget monitoring report

Jon Davies 6-Feb-23

Cabinet 01-Mar-23

Monmouthshire ECO Flex ‘Joint Statement of Intent’ 

and Memorandum of Understanding”

Steve Griffiths 16-Nov-22

Cabinet 01-Feb-23

Tudor Street

9-Jan-23

ICMD 25-Jan-23

Highway Traffic Regulation Amendment Order No 7 Catrin Maby - Climate Change and 

Environment

Agreement to make the traffic order

Mark Hand 15-Dec-22

P
age 37



ICMD 25-Jan-23

Community Council and Police Precepts - final Rachel Garrick - Resources

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Council 19-Jan-23

‘To determine the name for the new 3-19 School in 

Abergavenny

‘To determine the name for the new 3-19 School 

in Abergavenny

Cath Saunders 28-Nov-22

Council 19-Jan-23

Council Diary To confirm the Council Diary 23/24

John Pearson 14-Dec-22

Council 19-Jan-23

Appointments A report for Council to appoint or ratify a number 

of appointments to bodies and positions

Matt Phillips

Council 19-Jan-23

Community and Corporate Plan

Council 19-Jan-23

Tudor Road Call-In

Nicola Perry 3-Jan-23

Council 19-Jan-23

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Ruth Donovan 31-May-22

Cabinet 18-Jan-23

Garden Waste

Carl Touhig 21-Dec-22

Cabinet 18-Jan-23

Draft Revenue & Capital Proposals

Jon Davies

Cabinet 18-Jan-23

Council Tax Premiums Consultation - Long Term 

Empty Properties and Second Homes

Ruth Donovan

Cabinet 18-Jan-23

Proposal to establish a Welsh Medium Seedling 

school in Monmouth

To seek cabinet approval to commence statutory 

consultation processes to establish a Welsh 

Medium seedling provision in Monmouth. Debbie Graves 23-Sep-22

P
age 38



ICMD 11-Jan-23

Clydach Ironworks Enhancement Sara Burch - Inclusive and Active 

Communities
To seek approval for the transfer of land 

associated with the Clydach Ironworks 

Enhancement Scheme

Matthew Lewis 8-Dec-23

ICMD 11-Jan-23

Welsh Church Fund Working Group

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

ICMD 14-Dec-22

Council Tax Base report

Ruth Donovan 31-May-22

ICMD 14-Dec-22

2023/4 Community Council & Police Precepts - draft

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 07-Dec-22
Regional Integration Fund To consider the financial liabilities and 

implications of the Regional Integration Fund and 

its tapered funding model.

Jane Rodgers 21-Nov-22

Cabinet 07-Dec-22
 National Adoption Services and Foster Wales Joint 

Committee
Jane Rodgers 9-Nov-22

Cabinet 07-Dec-22
2022/23 Revenue and Capital Monitoring report - 

Month 6
Jon Davies 17-May-22

Council 01-Dec-22
Corporate Safeguarding Policy. For Council to endorse the revised Corporate 

Safeguarding Policy.
Jane Rodgers 10-Nov-22

Council 01-Dec-22
Governance & Audit Committee Annual Report 

2021/22
Andrew Wathan 18-Oct-22

Council 01-Dec-22
RLDP Preferred Strategy Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy

To seek Council endorsement of the new 

Preferred Strategy for eight week consultation 

over December and January

Mark Hand / Rachel 

Lewis
25-Jul-22

ICMD 30-Nov-22
TUDOR STREET

To seek a decision regarding the Council’s forward use 

of the property located in Tudor Street ahead of the 

outcomes of the wider review of My Day My Life 

Jane Rodgers 14-Nov-22

ICMD 30-Nov-22
Govilon Section 106 Funding for Recreation & Play Rachel Garrick - Resources

Mike Moran 8-Nov-22

ICMD 30-Nov-22
Highways Traffic Regulation Amendment Order 5 Catrin Maby - Climate Change and 

Environment
Mark Hand 3-Oct-22

ICMD 30-Nov-22
Planning Annual Performance Report (APR) 

Deferred to 30-Nov-22

Paul Griffiths - Sustainable 

Economy
Mark Hand Phil 

Thomas
3-Oct-22

ICMD 30-Nov-22
Highways Traffic Regulation Amendment Order 6 Catrin Maby - Climate Change and 

Environment

Agreement to make the traffic order
Mark Hand 23-Aug-22

Cabinet 09-Nov-22
Implementing Sharepoint online To secure funding to implement the project

Sian Hayward 13-Oct-22

Cabinet 09-Nov-22
A County of Sanctuary

To set out the reasons why an earlier decision is 

required due to time restrictions associated with TAN 

15.

Matt Gatehouse  20-Sep-22

Cabinet 09-Nov-22
SPF Update Report 

Hannah Jones 12-Sep-22

Cabinet 09-Nov-22 Revenue & Capital MTFP update and process Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 09-Nov-22
MonLife Heritage Strategy (or ICMD) DEFERRED  

Matthew Lewis 10-Feb-22

P
age 39



Council 27-Oct-22
RESPONSE TO URGENT NEED FOR HOUSING 

ACCOMMODATION

To present a proposal to enable Council to 

respond flexibly and promptly to the urgent need 

for housing accommodation, to address the 

Cath Fallon 10-Oct-22

Council 27-Oct-22
Community and Corporate Plan To seek endorsement of the new Community and 

Corporate Plan setting out the purpose, values 

and priorities for the organisation along with a 

Matt Gatehouse / Paul 

Matthews
3-Oct-22

Council 27-Oct-22
Outside Bodies Appointment

John Pearson 3-Oct-22

Council 27-Oct-22 Annual Safeguarding Report Kelly Turner 24-Aug-22

Council 27-Oct-22 Social Care & Health: Directors Report 2021/22 Jane Rodgers 6-Jul-22

ICMD 26-Oct-22 Welsh Church Fund Working Group Dave Jarrett 14/7/22

Cabinet 19-Oct-22
PSOW annual letter Present the Public Services Ombudsman For 

Wales’ annual report as required by the letter 

received Aug 22

Matt Phillips 28-Sep-22

Cabinet 19-Oct-22
Regional Partnership Board - Gwent Market Position 

Statement

To provide a Market Stability Report produced by 

the Regional Partnership Board setting out  a high 

level overview and Assessment of care & 

Phil Diamond Head of 

Regional Partnership 

Team

22-Sep-22

Cabinet 19-Oct-22
Community and Corporate Plan To seek endorsement of the new Community and 

Corporate Plan setting out the purpose, values 

and priorities for the organisation along with a 

Matt Gatehouse / Paul Matthews 20-Sep-22

Cabinet 19-Oct-22
22/23 Revenue and Capital Monitoring report - 

Month 4
Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 19-Oct-22
Land adjacent to Caldicot Comprehensive School - 

Housing Development Opportunity

To seek approval of the disposal of land at 

Caldicot Comprehensive School for the 

Development of 100% affordable housing

Nick Keyse

ICMD 12-Oct-22
Local Development Annual Monitoring Report (AMR DEFERRED TO 26 OCT Rachel Lewis/Cllr 

Paul Griffiths
23/08/22

ICMD 12-Oct-22
Welsh Church Fund Working Group DEFERRED TO 26 OCT

Dave Jarrett 14/07/22

ICMD 12-Oct-22
Ending Library Fines

To approve the abolition of library fines on all books 

enabling more people to enjoy reading without the 

worry of incurring a fine if they are unable to return 
Cheryl 

Haskell/Fookes?
20-Sep-22

ICMD 28-Sep-22
Transport Policy

Deb Hill Howells - MG 22-Aug-22

ICMD 28-Sep-22
B4245 speed limit DEFERRED TO 26 OCT

Mark Hand 18-Jul-22

Council 27-Sep-22 Tackling poverty and inequalities Nick John 24-Aug-22

Council 27-Sep-22 RLDP Options Report Rachel Lewis 25-Jul-22

Council 27-Sep-22
Rivers and Ocean

Hazel Clatworthy 9-Jun-22

Council 27-Sep-22
Monmouthshire County Council self - assessment 

report 2021/2
Richard Jones 23-May-22

ICMD 14-Sep-22
Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 2 held 

on 21st July 2022 (no meeting/no report  - 

withdrawn)

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

Cabinet 07-Sep-22
Transport Policy Consultation Update.

Deb Hill Howells 22-Aug-22

Cabinet 07-Sep-22
Cost Of Living

Matt Phillips 25-Jul-22

ICMD 31-Aug-22
MY DAY, MY LIFE SERVICE EVALUTATION

Ceri York 15-Aug-22

ICMD 31-Aug-22
Homesearch Policy &Procedure - Amendments & 

Welsh Translation Requirement
Ian Bakewell

ICMD 03-Aug-22
Additional Resources in Educations Strategy Resources required to develop and maintain 

schools education systems and the implementatin 

of WG Ed Tech Programme

Sian Hayward 14-Jun-22

P
age 40



ICMD 03-Aug-22
Designation of Secondary Catchment Areas 

Matthew Jones 6-Jun-22

ICMD 03-Aug-22
Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 1 held 

on 23rd June 2022  - Moved to ICMD 3rd Aug 2022
Dave Jarrett

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Wye Valley Villages Future Improvement Plan

Mark Hand 1-Jul-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Regen Three Year Programme

Mark Hand 1-Jul-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Review of Chepstow High Street closure

Mark Hand 1-Jul-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Home to School Transport Policy 2023-24.

Deb Hill Howells 27-Jun-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

MUCH (Magor & Undy Community Hall) report

Nick Keys 9-Jun-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Shared Prosperity Fund Local Investment Plan and 

Regional Lead Authority Arrangements Hannah Jones 23-May-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 1 held 

on 23rd June 2022  - Moved to ICMD 3rd Aug 2022 Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

2021/22 Revenue and Capital Monitoring outturn

Peter Davies/Jon Davies 17-Feb-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Play Sufficiency Assessment and Action Plan 22/23 

Matthew Lewis 10-Feb-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Housing Support Programme Strategy (Homeless 

Strategy) Ian Bakewell

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Monmouthshire Select Committee Minutes 
 

 

Meeting of Public Services Scrutiny Committee held at County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance on 
Monday, 28th November, 2022 at 10.00 am 

Councillors Present Officers in Attendance 

County Councillor Armand Watts  (Chairman) 
County Councillor  Penny Jones (Vice Chairman) 
 
County Councillors: Jan Butler, Steven Garratt, 
Sue Riley, Dale Rooke  
 
Also in attendance County Councillor Tudor 
Thomas   

Hazel Ilett, Scrutiny Manager 
Robert McGowan, Policy and Scrutiny Officer 
Sharran Lloyd, LSB Development Manager 
Richard Jones, Performance Manager 
Jane Rodgers, Chief Officer for Social Care, 
Safeguarding and Health 
Amanda Whent, Chair of Dementia Board 
Natasha Harris, Gwent Regional Partnership Team 

  
APOLOGIES: County Councillors Jill Bond and Frances Taylor 
 

 
 

1. Declarations of Interest  
 

None. 
 

2. Public Open Forum  
 

No submissions were received. 
 

3. Dementia Services  
 

Amanda Whent and Natasha Harris delivered the presentation and answered the 
members’ questions with Clare Morgan and Cabinet Member Tudor Thomas. 
 
Challenge: 
 
Chair: Thank you for coming today and for your presentation which has been really 
helpful.  I would like to focus on three separate aspects today, these being firstly the 
pre-diagnosis stage in terms of how we educate the public on dementia on the signs to 
be aware of and how we mitigate risks, then the diagnosis stage itself and the 
assessment process and support given and then the post-diagnosis stage and the care 
journey thereon. We have some set questions that we identified in our pre-discussion, 
so there my first question is for our officers and our Cabinet Member in terms of 
explaining how the Council works alongside partners and clarifying the role of the 
authority? 
 
The Council works very closely with the Aneurin Beavan University Health Board 
(ABUHB) and is the only Gwent authority to have social workers embedded in the 
community health team, so people get an integrated service with a single assessment, a 
single health plan and as such, outcomes for people are much better. Social workers 
work with the occupational therapists, the psychiatrists, the psychologists, the 

Public Document Pack

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



 

 

psychiatric nurses and memory assessment services. The support workers are 
embedded in the team, so it is truly a joined-up model that delivers what the legislation 
specifies.  
 
What support is provided before and after diagnosis?   For example, in your 
presentation, you mention under standards 11-15, that “contact will be made regarding 
providing emotional support 48 hours after diagnosis” and that “within 12 weeks post 
diagnosis, support will be provided to end of life”.  I just wondered whether this is 
realistic, given current staffing problems? 
 
The reality is that whilst there is an incredible amount of work being undertaken, there is 
a lot of work to be done. The workstream 2A is a pathway for memory assessment 
services and takes into account how we can raise awareness and understanding of 
services available pre diagnosis and signposting people to how to get further support. 
There is a multi-disciplinary/multi-agency team that is engaged in the process of 
remodelling the pathway, looking at where there are gaps, what additional posts, skills, 
and services are needed. There is Welsh Government funding available via the regional 
investment fund that we can bid for, but it’s not simply about funding. We need to 
ensure that we have structures in place to respond to individual needs. 
 
How do we work alongside families to support them? 
 
From a Monmouthshire Council point of view, it’s not just about services that are 
described in the action plan, but if we become aware somebody might be struggling, 
under the requirements of the Social Services and Well-being Act, we’d offer them and 
assessment  to understand their needs and we’d signpost them to existing services. We 
have early intervention support groups that are not necessarily dementia specific, and 
we’d encourage people towards any group they are interested in. For example, the 
Alzheimer’s Society has a list of groups.  So if we did an assessment and felt somebody 
needed more support, under the Social Services and Well-being legislation, we could 
refer them to day services, respite or care at home, meeting their needs according to 
the level of dementia.  We also work with the families, as often, it is the family that 
needs the support to help them with the demands of their role. It’s often about giving 
them a break and respite comes in many forms, it’s not just about care home stays, but 
maybe taking the person with dementia out so that the carer has a break or staying 
home with them so that the carer can go out. It supports carers to caring longer.  
 
What differences are evident as a result of the pandemic? 
 
In the pandemic, we saw that people were afraid of letting family members go into care 
homes where they would be isolated without visitors, which is very bad for dementia 
sufferers and yet they were struggling to maintain the care at home, so it became a 
focus to support people to cope at home. It is now usually the crisis point where people 
with dementia go into a care home and often, it is because they have advanced 
dementia and other care needs, usually nursing care. 
 
So with this in mind, given Monmouthshire’s demographic, the average working age 
being 46, which is disproportionality high to Cardiff and Bristol, are you planning for the 
ticking timebomb of disproportionately high numbers of older people? 
 

Page 44



 

 

We are very aware that we will have many more people with dementia living in 
Monmouthshire and that as more accommodation for older people is built in the county, 
that it will mean we will have a greater need for services. We are aware of the additional 
pressure on services.  
 
My question is around the funding situation, recognising we have a shortage of carers. 
Are we modelling for the older demographic, where is the funding going to come from? 
How will we retain those carers? 
 
It’s an important question we don’t have an answer for and we are undertaking 
workforce modelling on this at the moment. We have two community mental health 
teams in Monmouthshire working with people with dementia but the social worker 
component of that is tiny. We have 2 social workers covering the south of the county, 3 
covering the north of the county, with a manager above them and some support workers 
embedded. We have managed to increase our workforce using Regional Investment 
Fund money, but that is a tapering funding stream, so we have 2 posts in our older adult 
mental health team who are funded by the RIF monies and these postholders are now 
at risk.  
 
You mentioned that there are just two social workers for the south of the county. Is this 
enough, given the expansion of Bristol? How many would you anticipate needing in the 
future?  
 
We’ve gone into partnership with MIND and we are undertaking some research for 
Monmouthshire looking at carers needs. We’re 6 months into an 18-month piece of 
work, which should allow us to see how we compare with other counties and to identify 
what people feel is most useful to them. We do have a small pot of money so we can 
see if we are able to provide what carers are asking for. As far as staffing is concerned, 
we do have our integrated services and there are social workers within the integrated 
services who work with people with dementia.  The Community Mental Health Team 
work is a secondary service working with people with acute mental health needs, often 
the higher risk level, more complex cases that need a multi-disciplinary approach, I 
cannot estimate the numbers we will need in the future but we currently have a small 
waiting list.  
 
Cabinet Member:  From my perspective, dementia is a key priority as it’s likely to affect 
every family. The only way we can tackling such a key priority and the demographic 
tsunami is working with the Regional Partnership Board which gives out the Regional 
Investment Funding, acknowledging that this funding is tapering off. Micro carers are 
playing an important role and is something we need to support in the future, but I want 
to reassure the committee that this is a priority for me.  
 
 Chair ~ thank you for that Tudor, we’ve talked about this many times and I’m reassured 
that you have a genuine interest in this.   
My question was off the back of the mention about micro carers. Are we using trained 
volunteers or are we planning to, to deal with dementia specifically and relieve the? 
 
We are, but not as much as we could. This is where the early intervention agenda 
comes in. We certainly could look to train volunteers and do work more on this. Amanda 
may be better placed to comment.  Amanda ~ we have the Friend in Me service which 

Page 45



 

 

recruits dementia companions to support people at home and the end-of-life volunteer 
champions and they link in with education establishments to work befriending into 
different courses. It’s fair to say that when you develop the volunteering offer, it needs a 
governance arrangement and there is quite a lot of work involved. 
 
Armand: We have the development at Crick Road - could we be invited to visit?  As this 
replaces existing provision in Chepstow, it seems like we’ve replaced like for like. So in 
light of what we’ve said today about the changing demographic, what provision are we 
making financially for the longer term to cope with increased need?   
 
Also, as a county councillor, there was concern from residents about family members 
pre-pandemic about people being moved further away from this families? Does that 
practice still go on? 
 
In answer to both of your questions, we don’t have enough EMI nursing residential beds 
in county. Over the years, we have had care homes have closed and therefore we do 
have to source beds outside of Monmouthshire. We are finding that as people are 
remaining at home for longer, by the time they need care, their needs may be more 
complex and local care homes are not able to meet their needs, meaning the person 
has to go much further afield which is devastating for their families. We currently only 
have 1 local authority care home, which is Severn View and we will then have Crick 
Road but that is EMI residential, so it won’t necessarily be able to meet the needs of 
those who need nursing care, although we are looking at this at the moment. It’s an 
open market, Most care homes are privately owned and this means they choose the 
model of care they want to deliver that is cost effective for them and unfortunately, we 
are therefore at their behest.    
 
Recognising the recentralisation of adult social care and the move of the dementia unit 
in Chepstow to Newport, have you noticed any difference, with people being moved 
away from their families?  
  
We were given £200k when the dementia ward at Chepstow was closed and that 
funded the 2 support workers for the south of the county and we have a respite bed in 
Monmouthshire for EMI nursing that is funded by that £200k. 
  
Can I just confirm, did we not have the 2 support workers before that? 
 
No they were funded through the £200k.  We haven’t heard many concerns relating to 
this recently after the initial hurdles. There is a transport service funded from the £200k 
to get people to and from the ward and there is also a service in Pontypool. We have 
dedicated a worker to anyone who is admitted to the hospitals so that the wards and the 
relatives know who their nominated social worker I which has made communication 
easier.  
 
How many admissions do you receive on a quarterly basis? 
 
We have far more older people now being detained under the mental health act due to 
the changes under the Mental Capacity Act, but I would guess we have 4 or 5 people 
detained in psychiatric units.  
 

Page 46



 

 

I’m assuming not all of those presented will be detained? If there’s just one person 
liaising between the families, is that sufficient capacity, especially with the ageing 
demographic?  Please can you send us the statistics following the meeting?  
  
At the moment, it is enough, but it’s fair to say that we are having far more people with 
dementia being detained under the mental health act and that it is having an impact, as 
the number of assessments are going up. 
    
The £200k that came when the dementia ward was closed paid for 2 support workers in 
the south of the county. Once the money’s gone, do we keep the support workers? 
What happens afterwards? 
 
The £200k money is recurring money, it’s not RIF money, so the 2 support workers are 
funded, but the 2 social care workers I referred to earlier are RIF funded. Every year we 
have to present to the Integrated Services Partnership Board for projects to be funded 
under the £200k that is awarded by ABUHB and every year they have funded the wo 
social workers and the respite bed, so I am hoping we will receive the funding for these 
posts.  
 
Chair ~ Please could we schedule an update ln this in a year’s time.  
  
Cabinet Member ~ Geographically, we are very challenged in terms of meeting people’s 
needs across a large county. 
  
Chair’s Summary: 
 
Thanks to Amanda, Natasha, Claire and Jane for coming along and it’s a heartfelt thank 
you for the service that you provide. We will schedule an update in a year or so. 
 
Natasha has offered to send us some information on how they are supporting people in 
the community around awareness raising and living well for longer with schools, 
hospitals, community dementia cafe's, support groups and we would welcome that.  

 
4. Draft Gwent Well-Being Plan  

 

Richard Jones presented the report and answered the members’ questions with 
Sharran Lloyd. 
 
Challenge/Feedback: 
 
It’s difficult to give feedback on this report because there isn’t enough depth or detail. 
The document is too vague and generic for us to comment. The committee needs 
greater clarity on who is responsible for the roles described in section 2.8. For example, 
how will the aims be measured?  It is also unclear how the community engagement is 
being undertaken. 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 47



 

 

Chair’s Summary: 
 
I’m afraid we are unable to add any value through scrutinising this report given the 
feedback we have given that the document is too vague. We are happy to scrutinise a 
more refined report in due course.  

 
5. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 10th October 2022  

 

The minutes were confirmed and signed as an accurate record, proposed by Councillor 
Butler and seconded by Councillor Rooke. 

 
6. To consider the Public Services Scrutiny Committee's forward work programme  

 

The forward work plan was noted.  The Scrutiny Manager advised the committee that a 
report would be brought to Council on 19th January 2023 to nominate two members to 
sit on the regional Joint Scrutiny Committee for the Gwent Public Service Board. She 
suggested that to ensure line of sight between local activity in Monmouthshire that may 
be scrutinised by this committee and regional activity that would be scrutinised by the 
Joint Scrutiny Committee, that it would be sensible if the membership was drawn from 
this committee. The chair and vice chair asked whether there was any interest from the 
committee members in undertaking this role. In the absence of any indication of interest, 
the chair and vice chair agreed they would be happy to undertake the joint scrutiny role 
if Council were to agree to their nomination.   

 
7. Cabinet and Council Work Plan  

 

The Cabinet and Council forward work plan was noted. 
 

8. To note the date and time of the next meeting: 20th February 2023  
 
 

 
 

 

Page 48


	Agenda
	4 Draft Gwent Wellbeing Plan
	Gwent DRAFT Wellbeing Plan 2023_2028_160223 (002)

	7 Public Services Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme and Action List
	8 Cabinet and Council Work Planner
	9 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 28th November 2022
	Minutes


